IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OCT 29 1986

Case No. 67,842

CLE

RICHARD WALLACE RHODES,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

:

:

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROBERT F. MOELLER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

+

Hall of Justice Building 455 N. Broadway - 2d Floor Post Office Box 1640 Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 533-1184

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellant, RICHARD RHODES, will be referred to by name in this brief.

Page references to the record on appeal and the appendix to this brief will be designated by "R" and "A," respectively.

Rhodes would note that there is some duplication in the numbering of certain pages of the record on appeal. The transcript of the hearing on the first motion to suppress encompasses pages 2803 - 2881 of the record, while the transcript of the hearing on the second motion to suppress encompasses pages 2832 - 2902 of the record.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 20, 1984, a Pinellas County grand jury returned an indictment charging Appellant, RICHARD WALLACE RHODES, with the premeditated murder of Karen Jeter Nieradka. (R21)

This cause proceeded to a jury trial beginning on August 6, 1985, with the Honorable Helen S. Hansel presiding. (R960). The jury found Rhodes guilty as charged on August 19, 1985 (R262,2540).

Penalty phase was conducted on August 27, 1985. (R2554additional 2759) After receiving/evidence the jury recommended a sentence of death by a vote of seven to five. (R274,2750)

A sentencing hearing was held on September 12, 1985. (R2909-2962) Judge Hansel sentenced Richard Rhodes to death, and orally stated her findings as to aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (R2959-2960) Written findings in support of the sentence of death were not filed until September 24, 1986. (R2985-2986, A1-2) In aggravation Judge Hansel found: (1) Rhodes was under a sentence of imprisonment when the crime was committed, as he was on parole. (R2959,2895,A1). (2) Rhodes has a propensity to commit violent crimes as evidenced by his prior convictions of felony crimes involving the use or threat of violence. (R2959, 2985, A1) (3) The murder was committed while Rhodes was committing a robbery or sexual battery. (R2959,2985,A1) (4) The murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel. (R2959, 2985,A1). (5) The murder was cold, calculated and premeditated without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (R2959-2960, 2985,A1) In mitigation Judge Hansel found some evidence that

-2-

Rhodes suffers from a long-term personality disorder, but found that he has the capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct. (R2960,2986,A2)

Rhodes filed a motion for new trial on August 23, 1985 (R263-264), which Judge Hansel heard and denied on October 28, 1985 (R304,2964-2976)

Notice of Appeal was filed on October 29, 1985. (R305)

The Public Defender for the Tenth Judicial Circuit and his trial attorney were appointed to represent Rhodes on appeal to this Court. (R307)

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On March 24, 1984, the decomposing body of a white female, approximately 40 years old, was found in debris being used to construct a berm in the Wyoming Antelope Gun Club in St. Petersburg. (R1454-1455,1485-1486,1488-1492,1693-1696,1704) The lower right leg was missing, but was located on March 30, 1984, a few yards from where the body had been found. (R1492, 1521-1522,1695)

Debris from two buildings that had been torn down was being used to construct the berm, but the debris in the immediate area of the body came from the Sunset Hotel in Clearwater, which was demolished on March 15 . (R1453,1455,1463,1465,1467)

The body was identified as that of Karen Nieradka through fingerprints. Her known prints were on file with the Pinellas County Sheriff's Department as a result of her arrest in February, 1984. (R1546-1547,1549,1551-1555,1557-1559,1567, 1570-1572,1888)

Doctor Joan Wood, medical examiner for Pinellas County, determined the cause of death to be manual strangulation. (R1689-1690,1701) Her opinion was based on the fact the hyoid bone was broken, tests were negative for drug overdose, the circumstances under which the body was found, and the lack of any other obvious cause of death. (R1702) Nieradka had been dead from two to eight weeks. (R1705) There was no evidence of sexual intercourse, sexual molestation, or rape, apart from the fact Nieradka was nude, except for a brassiere. (R1694-1695, 1714) Numerous bones on the body were fractured, but all such

- 4-

breakage (except for the hyoid bone) occurred post-mortem. (R1708,1717,1757) Cirrhosis of the liver, often caused by excessive alcohol consumption, was present.(R1714-1715)

In February, 1984, Richard Rhodes worked in the telemarketing division of the Clearwater <u>Sun</u>. (R381,1574-1575, 1581-1582) He only worked there a few weeks. (R1576) One day, possibly a Friday around February 24, Rhodes came to work late. (R1577,1585) He explained that he had been detained by the police overnight because he had been driving his girlfriend's car, and she was found strangled under a pile of lumber on Sunset Point Road. (R1578-1579,1583,1588-1589) Rhodes made some remark about she should not have been looking for Mr. Goodbar. (R1584) He only worked at the Sun for a few more days. (R1580,1585)

Rhodes was living at a place in Clearwater called Safe House in February 1984. (R377,1598-1599) It was a temporary shelter run by a religious organization. (R1598)

Daniel Sessions also lived at Safe House, and knew Rhodes. (R1598-1599) One night toward the end of February, possibly a Wednesday, Rhodes came in verylate. (R1601-1602,1607) He was acting very strangely, as if he were high on drugs. (R1601-1602,1608) He took a shower, then got fully dressed and went to bed. (R1601-1602,1603-1604)

Rhodes displayed an interest in the Sunset Point Hotel, which was a few blocks from Safe House. (R1600-1601,1611).

Karen Nieradka had been Rebecca Barton's roommate in Clearwater. (R1613) Barton last saw her on the evening of

-5-

February 29 when she left the house with Richard Rhodes and two other men, Danny Pauley and George. (R1620-1623,1625)

Pauley and George Kaftanden went to Mano's Bar with Nieradka and Rhodes after leaving Barton's house. (R1640-1641, 1643-1644) Pauley and Kaftanden left the bar sometime around 11:00 or 11:30, although it could have been earlier or later. (R1644,1648) Rhodes and Nieradka were still there. (R1644)

On March 2, 1984, Trooper Robert J. Drawdy of the Florida Highway Patrol stopped Rhodes in Hernando County. (R1779-1780) Rhodes was driving a white 1983 Dodge Dart. (R1781) He was headed southbound when stopped, but Drawdy had information he had originally been headed north. (R1792,1800-1801) He said the car belonged to his girlfriend, Linda, whose last name he could not pronounce because it was Russian. (R1781-1782) Documents in the glove compartment showed the car registered to Karen Nieradka. (R1783-1785) When Trooper Drawdy asked Rhodes who Karen was, he replied she was another one of his girlfriends. (R1778-1789) Rhodes said she also had a Russian name he could not pronounce. (R1789)

Also in the glove compartment was a note giving Rhodes permission to use the car. (R1783,1788) It was purportedly signed by Karen Nieradka and Richard Rhodes. (R1788)

Trooper Drawdy placed Rhodes under arrest, but not for murder. (R1789) He was transported to Citrus County Jail. (R1789) The car he was driving was impounded. (R1890-1891)

On March 3, 1984, some purses, suitcases, clothing, etc., belonging to Karen Nieradka were found in the vicinity of the Anclote Bridge in Tarpon Springs. (R1655-1662,1669-1682, 1763-1765)

-6-

Harvey Duranseau was Richard Rhodes' cellmate at the Citrus County Jail. (R1834) Rhodes generally was not interested in watching the news, but became interested when there was a broadcast regarding a body found at a Clearwater landfill. (R1836) After that newscast, Rhodes asked Duranseau many questions about dead bodies. (R1836-1838) The issue of strangulation came up often.(R1837-1838) On one occasion Rhodes remarked that only he and the girl (the same girl mentioned on the newscast) knew what occurred, and he was not going to tell. (R1840). When he mentioned the girl he made a gesture with his hands as if he were strangling someone. (R1840)

On March 26, 1984, Detectives Steve Porter and Walter Kelly, Jr. of the Pinellas County Sheriff's Department interviewed Richard Rhodes in Citrus County. (R1883,1893-1894,2005-2006) After the detectives introduced themselves and said they were there on a criminal investigation, Rhodes said, "I know why you're here. You're here on a murder investigation." (R1896, 2007) Rhodes then gave a number of different statements. He said he was in possession of the victim's car because he had rented it from her. (R1897-1898) He said he had taken Karen and her boyfriend, "Bear," to the Sunset Hotel and dropped them off. (R1898-1899,1901,1902-1903) At one point Rhodes said,

> I know you can't prove I did it. I studied forensic lobotomy in prison. Too much time has elapsed for you to prove that I did it.

(R1912)

During a second interview the same day, March 26,

-7-

Rhodes stated that a man called "Crazy Angel" killed Karen at the Sunset Hotel. (R376,1924) Rhodes waited in a car while the two went into the hotel. (R376,1924) He assumed they were going to have sex. (R376,1926) Crazy Angel returned without Karen. (R376,1924) When Rhodes asked where she was, Crazy Angel indicated he had killed her, and threatened Rhodes. (R576, 1924 -1925,1928) He instructed Rhodes to get rid of Karen's car. (R378,1925,1929)

In another statement Rhodes said he drove Karen, Kermit Villeneuve, James Foley, and Crazy Angel to the old hotel. (R1940,2011) He waited in the car while they went inside. (R2012) After a few minutes Rhodes went in to see what was happening. (R2012) He found Crazy Angel with his hands around Karen's throat, strangling her. (R2012) She was not fighting. (R2012) Crazy Angel threatened Rhodes. (R2012) He and the others told Rhodes to drive Karen's car to Georgia. (R2012-2013)

Rhodes then said the three men held Karen down and pulled her jeans down, but that she fought pretty good. (R2012-2013)

In an interview with Rhodes on March 29, 1984, Rhodes claimed he did not learn about the murder until after it happened, when Kermit Villeneuve told Rhodes he had killed Karen. (R1945-1946,2012-2014) During that interview Rhodes admitted he had been lying to the detectives. (R1951,2014) He also said he was physically incapable of strangling anyone, due to neurological damage he had suffered in his arms. (R1947,2015)

Yet another version Rhodes gave was that he entered the Sunset Point Hotel with Karen and Kermit. (R2021) Kermit

-8 **-**

hit Karen in the throat with his open hand, knocking her down. (R2021) He tried to stab her in the neck with a piece of wood. (R2021) Both Kermit and Karen were drunk, and she did not resist. (R2021) Kermit had a pistol, which he put on the floor while he raped Karen. (R2021-2022) Rhodes tried to pull Kermit off. (R2022) He put the gun to Kermit's head, but could not pull the trigger. (R2022) Finally, Rhodes threw the gun down and ran. (R2022) Rhodes denied raping or killing Karen. (R2022)

On April 27, 1984, Rhodes was placed under arrest for first degree murder at Citrus County Jail and transported to Pinellas County. (R1953-1954) During the ride he described himself as a vampire, which he said was someone who prays upon others and lives off someone else. (R1956) Rhodes offered to tell Detective Porter how the victim died if Porter would promise Rhodes would spend the rest of his life in a mental health facility. (R1956) Then Rhodes said the victim died accidentally when she fell three stories in the Sunset Hotel. (R1956-1957) He began smiling after he said this. (R1957) Rhodes told Porter he would not get the truth out of him until he was convicted. (R1957)

After Rhodes got to the Pinellas County Jail, Edward Cottrell discussed his case with him many times, as they were incarcerated in the same wing of the facility. (R2031) Rhodes told Cottrell he had gone with a girl named Karen to the "Sunset Fort Harrison Hotel," which was being torn down. (2032-2033) Rhodes tried twice to "get into her pants," but she resisted. (R2033) The second time, she hit him, and he hit her back,

-9-

choked her, and hit her in the head and/or neck with a board. (R2033) Rhodes then took her clothes, watch, ring, and purse, and hid the body under some carpet or rubbish. (R2033-2034) He threw the clothes and purse into a river between Hudson and New Port Richey and sold her watch and some eight-track tapes to someone in a bar. (R2034) Rhodes changed his story many times during his conversations with Cottrell. (R2034)

Another inmate, John Bennett, asked Rhodes what he was in for. (R2060) When Rhodes replied, "murder," Bennett said, "It looks like you couldn't bruise a grape." (R2060) Rhodes remarked, "I bruised more than a grape, but they can't prove it." (R2060)

Michael Guy Allen was a good friend of Rhodes while they were incarcerated at the Pinellas County Jail. (R2079) Among other things, Rhodes told Allen the person he supposedly killed was a girl he was out "partying" with. (R2080) Allen asked Rhodes if he shot her. (R2080) Rhodes said he tried to break her neck. (R2081) He and the girl "had got it on," after which she became angry and threatend to "tellher old man." (R2081) Theyfought, and Rhodes knocked her out. (R2081)

At Richard Rhodes' trial he presented five witnesses in his defense (R2195-2268) One of them, Sandra Nieradka, was married to Richard Nieradka, who previously had been married to Karen Nieradka. (R1761,2225) She testified concerning a fight she had with Richard in November of 1984 during which he started choking her and said, "This is how I killed Karen." (R2228-2231)

The State put on four rebuttal witnesses, much of whose testimony Rhodes objected to as constituting impeachment

-10-

on collateral matters or as not rebutting anything presented by the defense. (R2273-2316)

At the penalty phase of Rhodes' trial June Blevins testified for the State that Rhodes worked at the Clearwater Sun for about two weeks, from late February until March 2, 1984. (R2559-2560) He came in 10 minutes late on February 24. (R2559)

The State also introduced judgments and sentences showing that Rhodes had been convicted of robbery in the first degree and assault in the third degree in Oregon, and battery with a deadly weapon and attempted robbery in Nevada, and that he had been paroled on the Nevada battery charge, with a parole expiration date of April 16, 1985. (R394-397,2595-2597)

Captain Jerry Rolette of the Mineral County, Nevada, Sheriff's Office briefly described his investigation of the Nevada offenses. (R2637-2639) He identified a cassette tape recording of his interview with the victim, which was admitted into evidence after denial of a defense motion in limine, and played for the jury. (R2600-2636,2639-2640,2984,2994-3011) 1/ Also admitted were two pictures of the elderly female victim. (R398,2642-2643)

The defense presented the testimony of Dr. Walter Afield, a psychiatrist who had examined and evaluated Rhodes at the Pinellas County Jail. (R2645-2649) He found Rhodes to be one of the most abused people he had seen in many years, from early

<sup>1/</sup> The cassette tape was not included in the original record on appeal that was sent to this Court, but the tape and a transcript thereof were forwarded to the Court as part of a supplemental record on September 29, 1986. (R2984,2994-3011)

childhood on. (R2650-2651) Rhodes had had an enormously disturbed life, and had spent most of his time in institutions from the age of five. (R2651-2652) He had been trained into becoming a very isolated, lonely, empty, shallow, inadequate, angry, disturbed individual, who had been diagnosed as psychotic around 1971 or 1972. (R2656) Dr. Afield concluded that on or about February 29, 1984, Rhodes was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance, and his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired. (R2655,2657) Rhodes' condition could be controlled in a prison setting, and a positive impact upon his character might result if he received very good, long-term (15 to 20 years) treatment while incarcerated. (R2658-2659)

Janet Foltz also testified for Rhodes at the penalty phase. (R2681-2694) She was with a prison ministry team. (R2682) She had witnessed a change come over Rhodes at the Pinellas County Jail. (R2685) He began caring about people. (R2685) He was continually changing, growing spiritually. (R2689)

The court instructed the jury on all statutory aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (R2739-2742)

During their deliberations the jury apparently asked the court whether they would be polled concerning the penalty recommendation. (R2753-2754) Without notifying counsel, the court sent back word through the bailiff that polling was a possibility. (R2753-2754) Rhodes objected to this procedure and moved for a mistrial based upon the court's communication with the jury, but the motion was denied. (R2757)

-12 **-**

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Trooper Drawdy lacked probable cause to arrest Richard Rhodes without a warrant for driving without a driver's license. Rhodes explained why he was unable to produce his license. As the arrest was illegal, all subsequent statements Rhodes made should have been suppressed.

11. Edward Cottrell's testimony concerning inculpatory statements Richard Rhodes allegedly made to him when they were in jail together should have been suppressed. Cottrell was, at least indirectly, encouraged by the authorities to obtain information from Rhodes, and employed a scheme of deceit to accomplish this. Cottrell expected to be compensated for his work as a state agent by receiving a lower sentence on pending serious felony charges.

111. Testimony Michael Allen gave concerning supposed threats made by Richard Rhodes against Harvey Duranseau, Richard Nieradka, and "snitches" in general should not have been admitted as it was irrelevant and prejudicial.

**IV.** The State should not have been allowed to introduce color photographs and a color videotape depicting Karen Nieradka's

-13-

decaying remains in the rubble at the Wyoming Antelope Gun Club, or pictures of her corpse at the medical examiner's office, as this evidence was cumulative and irrelevant, serving only to inflame the jury.

V. Michael Malone, accepted as an expert in hair and fiber analysis, offered prejudicial testimony outside the scope of his expertise when he testified that people in death throes have a tendency to grab their own hair.

VI. Detective Steve Porter's testimony that Richard Rhodes told him he (Rhodes) had "studied forensic lobotomy in prison" was irrelevant and highly prejudicial, as it suggested Rhodes' guilt of collateral crimes, and should not have been admitted.

VII. Defense witness Paul Collins should have been allowed to testify that Karen Nieradka told him Richard Rhodes had her car in New Port Richey. The testimony was admissible under the state of mind exception to the hearsay rule, and would have shown Nieradka's willingness to let Rhodes use her car, supporting his statements to the detectives.

VIII. The State's rebuttal testimony from Richard Nieradka and Detective Steve Porter should not have been admitted as it did not serve to rebut any defense evidence or constituted an attempt to impeach defense witness Sandra Nieradka on

-14-

collateral matters. Rebuttal witness Margaret Tucker was permitted to give double hearsay testimony over objection.

IX. The assistant state attorneys who prosecuted Richard Rhodes made closing arguments to the jury that were inflammatory and not supported by the evidence in referring to Rhodes as an "admitted murderer" and analogizing Karen Nieradka's life to that of the protagonist in the novel, Looking for Mr. Goodbar.

X. A. There was no clear, competent evidence to justify the special instruction on flight the court gave to the jury.

B. The State improperly attempted to amend the indictment herein by filing a statement of particulars which expanded the time period within which Karen Nieradka allegedly was killed. The jury should have been instructed that the State was obligated to prove the narrower time frame set forth in the indictment.

C. Rhodes' request for jury instruction on second degree felony murder should have been granted as there was some evidence that he aided and abetted a robbery or sexual battery committed by "Crazy Angel" during which Karen Nieradka was killed, but was not present at the murder.

XI. Judge Hansel's instruction to the alternate jurors, in the presence of the other jurors, to remain in the courtroom

-15-

in the event they were needed for a penalty phase prejudiced the deliberating jurors against Richard Rhodes by suggesting that the judge felt Rhodes would be convicted.

**XIIA.** Richard Rhodes' confrontation rights were violated when the State introduced at penalty phase a tape recording of an interview with the victim of an attempted robbery and battery with a deadly weapon in Nevada.

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