#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICHARD WALLACE RHODES,	)	
Appellant,	) )	Case No. <b>57,842</b> 2000
STATE OF FLORIDA,	) ) )	Case No. 47,0122CC
Appellee.	) )	

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY

#### AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

## CANDANCE M, SUNDERLAND

Assistant Attorney General 1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804 Park Trammell Building Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 272-2670

### JOSEPH R, BRYANT

Assistant Attorney General 1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804 Park Trammell Building Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 272-2670

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

my for , i

#

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

**49** \$0.2d at 335

Appellant cites <u>Robinson v. State</u>, **487** So.2d **1040** (Fla. **1986**), to support his proposition on this issue. <u>Robinson</u>, however, is not applicable to the instant case. The <u>Robinson</u> court held that it was improper for the prosecution to bring out two crimes for which the defendant was not charged on cross-examination of defendant's character witness. The Court so held because the state was attempting to show evidence of other violent felonies in order to prove the statutory aggravating circumstances of **\$921.141(5)** (b), **Fla. Stat. (1983).** This Court relied on its earlier holding in <u>Dougan v. State</u>, **470** So.2d **697** (Fla. **1985**), to so rule in <u>Robinson</u>. Neither <u>Dougan</u> nor <u>Robinson</u> are remotely based

on impeachment of a character witness by knowledge of specific acts of the defendant pursuant to §90.405(2), Fla, Stat. In that impeachment of a character witness by her knowledge of specific acts is the issue presented; this Court's ruling in Cornelius is controlling.

# C. <u>Prosecutor's Improper, Inflammatory Argument</u>

Appellant contends that the prosecutor made five improper and inflammatory comments during closing argument of the penalty phase, that such comments were prejudicial to appellant; thus, requiring a new penalty phase trial. The state disagrees and will address each comment in the order given in appellant's brief.

As to the prosecutor's first comment, the state would contend that appellant has not and is unable to demonstrate actual prejudice resulting therefrom. Should this Court find the comment improper, however, this Court has held "that prosecutorial error alone does not warrant automatic reversal. [Such] misconduct must be egregious indeed to warrant our vacating the sentence and remanding for a new penalty phase trial." State v. Murray, 443 So.2d 955 (Fla. 1984). Therefore, appellant's inability to show the egregious nature of said comment renders such alleged error harmless.

As to the second statement, the state contends that it is a fair comment on the evidence adduced at trial. See, <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982). Furthermore, this comment directly related to the aggravating circumstances of the crime

being especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel; and cold, calculated and premeditated pursuant to \$921.141(5)(h) & (i), Fla. Stat. (1984).

As to the third statement, the state contends that it is a fair comment on the evidence adduced at trial. <u>Breedlove</u>. And said comment directly related to the statutory aggravating circumstance of \$921.141(5)(b), Fla. Stat, (1984).

As to the fourth comment, the state contends that the prosecutor's statement was not improper; however, should this court find it so, the impropriety should be ruled harmless under <u>State</u> v. Murray, supra.

As to the fifth comment, the state contends that it is a fair comment on the evidence adduced at trial in that it was based on the admission of a party-opponent. Furthermore, the comment related to the statutory aggravating factor of \$921.141(5)(i), Fla. Stat. (1984).

As to appellant's Issue XII, the state would lastly contend that any error lying herein is most susceptible to application of the harmless error rule pursuant to the United States Supreme Court's holding in <u>United States v. Hasting</u>, 461 U.S. 499, 103 S.Ct. 1974, 76 L.Ed.2d 96 (1983).

The Supreme Court in <u>Hasting</u>, reversed the Seventh Circuit's ruling which had previously held that a prosecutor's comments concerning defense evidence impermissibly compromised the defendant's Fifth Amendment rights. In **so** reversing, the Supreme Court stated,

"Since Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967), [this] Court has consistently made clear that it is the duty of a reviewing court to consider the trial record as a whole and to ignore errors that are harmless, including most constitutional violations. The goal • • is to conserve judicial resources by enabling appellate courts to cleanse the judicial process of prejudicial error without becoming mired in harmless error.

# 461 U.S. at 509

The state would, in conclusion, assert that any error found in the playing of tape, the cross-examination of appellant's character witness, and the prosecutorial comments should all be held harmless. For when this Court reviews the record as a whole and considers the magnitude of the crime committed, the clear evidence of guilt, and the inconsistency of the scanty evidence tendered by appellant, this Court must affirm the instant sentence of death.

## ISSUE XIII

WHETHER THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN ANSWERING THE QUESTION FROM THE JURY WITHOUT NOTIFYING COUNSEL FOR THE STATE OR COUNSEL FOR THE DEFENSE, AND WITHOUT CONDUCTING THE JURY INTO THE COURTROOM?

During the jury's deliberations in the penalty phase of Richard Rhodes' trial, Judge Hansel, in response to the jury's question, informed the jury, through the Baliff, that it was a possibility that they would be polled. (R 2735 - 2754, 2756) Appellant objected and moved for a mistrial, which was denied. (R 2757)

Appellant now contends that the procedure followed by the court below was improper, that the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, §3.410, mandates anytime the jury requests additional instructions, they must be conducted into the courtroom and the instructions given only after notice to the prosecuting attorney and to counsel for the defendant. Appellant contends that the question in the instant case falls within the express notice requirements of Rule 3.410, and therefore reversal is mandated.

In <u>Williams v. State</u>, **488** So.2d **62** (Fla. **1986)**, this Court held that the trial court's denial of the jury request for a copy of the jury instructions without giving notice to counsel is per se reversible. This holding was based upon this Court's decision that a jury request for copies of instructions was a request for additional instructions within the express notice requirements of **Florida Rule** of **Criminal Procedure 3.410.** Nevertheless, this Court went on to hold that communications outside the express

notice requirements of **Rule 3.410** should be analyzed using the harmless error principles. Accord, <u>Hitchcock v. State</u>, **413** \$0.2d **741** (Fla. **1981)**.

The jury's question in the instant case was not a request for additional instructions within the perview of Rule 3,410, It was merely a question regarding procedure, and the trial court responded correctly.

Appellant also contends that, even if the occurrence below would be considered the type of communication that is outside the express notice requirements of Rule 3.410, the error here cannot be considered harmless. Appellant contends that prejudice resulted because the jurors may have feared they would again be required to announce their individual verdicts in open court and tell the world how they voted on the penalty recommendation. Appellant contends that as the jury recommended death by a vote of seven to five, the swaying of a single vote by the possibility of being polled, may have meant the difference of life and death for Richard Rhodes. Appellant suggests that had appellant been consulted, they could have recommended a course of action that would have avoided such a prejudicial situation. This claim of prejudice lacks merit.

The constitution does not require a new trial every time a juror has been placed in a potentially compromising situation •• because it is virtually impossible to shield jurors from every contact or influence that might theoretically effect their vote. Smith v. Phillips, 455 U.S. 209, 217, 71 L.Ed.2d 78, 102

S.Ct. 940 (1982). There is scarcely a lengthy trial in which one or more jurors does not have the occasion to speak to the trial judge about something, whether it relates to a matter of personal comfort or to some aspect of the trial. Rushen v. Spain, 464 U.S. 114, 78 L.Ed.2d 267, 104 S.Ct. 453 (1983). Not every contact with jurors constitutes a deprivation of constitutional rights. United States v. Gagnon v. 470 U.S. 84 L.Ed.2d 486, 106 S.Ct. (1985).

The question in the instant case was a question only regard-The trial court answered correctly. Despite ing procedure. appellant's contentions that if he had been consulted, he could have recommended a course of action that could have avoided such a prejudicial situation, appellant fails to suggest what that recommended course of action could have been. Further, it is more reasonable to assume that the jurors would have feared recommending the death penalty and having to stand up and announce that, than recommending a life sentence. The constitution does not guarantee appellant a perfect trial, only a fair A review of the record in the instant case shows that trial. appellant received a fair trial and was guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. No prejudice resulted, and a new sentencing phase is not warranted.

#### ISSUE XIV

WHETHER THE FINDINGS OF THE COURT BELOW IN AGGRAVATION AND MITIGATION ARE SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY UPON RICHARD RHODES.

Appellant's argument herein appears to be two-fold: (1) that the findings of the trial court are not specific enough to meet the requirements of \$921.141(3) Fla. Stat. (1985) and, (2) that since the trial court's written order was not filed until eleven months after the notice of appeal was filed and more than six months after the record on appeal was transmitted to this court, the circuit court had lost all jurisdiction over the cause.

As to the first claim, \$921.141(3) provides:

- "(3) FINDING IN SUPPORT OF SENTENCE OF DEATH-Notwithstanding the recommendation of the majority of the jury, the court, after weighing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, shall enter a sentence of life imprisonment or death, but if the court imposes a sentence of death it shall set forth in writing its findings upon which the sentence of death is based as to the facts:
- (a) that sufficient aggravating circumstances exist as enumerated in subsection (5), and
- (b) that there are insufficient mitigating circumstances to outweigh the aggravating circumstances.

And each case in which the court imposes the death sentence, the determination of the court shall be supported by specific written findings of fact based upon the circumstances in subsections (5) and (6) and upon the records of the trial and the sentencing proceedings."

In the instant case, the trial judge made oral findings of fact at the sentencing hearing of September 12, 1985, which were

transcribed in the record. (R 2959 - 2960) These findings were also set forth in a written order dated the same day, September 12, 1985. (R 2986) This order was filed on September 24, 1986. (R 2985 - 2986)

This Court has repeatedly held that oral pronouncements of findings of fact are sufficient to meet the requirements of \$921.141 which requires written findings of fact once the oral pronouncement is transcribed. Thompson v. State, 328 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1976); Cave v. State, 445 So.2d 341 (Fla. 1984). Both the oral and the written findings in the instant case were sufficient to support a finding of death.

This court in <u>Holmes v. State</u>, **374** So.2d **944** (Fla. **1979)** reviewed a similar case, and found that the sentence imposed was the result of a reasoned judgment. In <u>Holmes</u>, the trial court's order stated:

"As to aggravating circumstances the court finds: subsection (e), that the capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody. Subsection (g), the capital felony was committed to disrupt the enforcement of laws. Subsection (h) the capital felony was especially heinous and atrocious."

"As to mitigating circumstances the court finds: Subsection (a) that the defendant has no significant history of prior criminal activity, but that none of the other mitigating circumstances listed in the statute were present."

This Court reviewed that order imposing a sentence of death and held:

"Defendant also says that the findings of fact entered by the trial judge were inadequate.

There is no prescribed form for the order containing the findings of mitigating and aggravating circumstances. The primary purpose for requiring these findings to be in writing is to provide an opportunity for meaningful review by this court so that it may be determined that the trial judge reviewed the issue of life or death within the framework provided by the statute. It must appear that the sentence imposed was the result of reasoned judgment. The finding meets these criteria."

(Id. at 950)

Accordingly, the findings in the instant case were sufficient and specific enough to provide meaningful review.

Appellant's second argument is based on this Court's recent opinion in Van Royal v. State, 11 F.L.W. 490 (Fla. September 18, 1986). In Van Royal, the judge did not set forth in writing or orally for the record, the reasons for imposing the death penalty as required by §921.141(3), Fla, Stat, (1981). The record on appeal in Van Royal was filed on March 7, 1985, but it was not until April 15, 1985, that the trial court entered its written findings as to aggravating and mitigating factors in support of the death penalty. This Court noted that more than a month had elapsed between the time the jury in Van Royal recommended life sentences and the time the judge overrode the jury recommendation of life by orally sentencing appellant to death. This Court then went on to distinguish the case from Cave v. State, 445 So.2d 341 (Fla. 1984); Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1982); and Thompson v. State, 328 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1976), because unlike <u>Cave</u>, Ferquson, and Thompson, the judge did not recite the findings upon which the death sentences were based into the record.

Roreover, the findings in <u>Van Royal</u> were not made for an additional six months until after the record on appeal had been certified to this Court.

This Court found three significant factors mandating reversal of the death sentence in <a href="Van Royal">Van Royal</a>: The surrender of jurisdiction; the non-compliance to the statute coupled with override; and, the inadequacy of the record. Additionally, Justice Ehrlich noted that the filing of written answers immediately after a defense motion attacking this dereliction in duties makes it clear that trial judge's delay in <a href="Van Royal">Van Royal</a> was not the function of the weighing process or "reasoned judgment". None of these factors exist in the instant case. Instead, we have an oral pronouncement of the findings of fact in support of the death penalty, compliance with the statute before jurisdiction was relinquished, and a complete record on appeal which reflects the careful weighing and reasons for judgment. The sentence should not be vacated.

And, in fact, this Court has held in both <u>Cave</u> and <u>Ferguson</u> that vacation is not mandated. In <u>Cave</u>, the appellant was found guilty of first degree murder and sentenced to death by the trial court. He thereupon filed the timely notice of appeal which was pending before this Court. Appellant then moved to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction and, further, that the death sentence be vacated, that the cause be remanded for the imposition of a sentence of life imprisonment, and that the matter be directed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal for further appellate

review. As grounds therefore, the appellant cited \$921.141(3), Fla, Stat. This Court noted that the State of Florida agreed that no separate written findings of fact were contained in the record on appeal, but instead, moved this court to temporarily relinquish jurisdiction to the trial court so that the written findings required under \$921.141(3), Fla. Stat. (1981) could be prepared by the trial court and the record on appeal supplemented with these written findings. This Court in Cave stressed that the trial judge did dictate his written findings in support of the death sentence into the record at the time of the sentencing.

"We have previously held that '[s]uch dictation, when transcribed, becomes a finding of fact in writing and provides the opportunity for meaningful review, as required by \$921.141, Fla. Stat.'"

This Court denied the appellant's motion to dismiss and relinquished jurisdiction to the trial court to provide written findings of fact to be entered as supplement to the record on appeal. Even more on point is <u>Ferguson v. State</u>, supra, where this Court held that a similar challenge was moot as the written findings of fact had been provided in a supplemental record. Id. at 641.

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